IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID.I. WHITE
FEB 8 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Cited Deputy Mark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

DANIEL MAXWELL,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87-290

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

VINCENT ALTIERI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0051918

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a petition for discretionary review, pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, based on the claim that the district court of appeal's decision that a defendant cannot be convicted of more than one firearm offense based on the possession of a firearm during the same criminal episode, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in M.P. v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2569 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 22, 1995), rev. pending (Fla. case no. 86-968). Article V, § 3(b)(3) provides that this Court may exercise jurisdiction to review a district court of appeal's decision that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal, based on the four corners of the opinion. Reaves v. State,

485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986). Thus, if the district court's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the M.P. decision, jurisdiction is proper.

In addition, this Court's conflict jurisdiction may be properly invoked where this Court has already granted review in a case that presents the same issue for review as in the conflict case. Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981). Thus, if this Court grants review in a case that presents the same question as the instant case, then this Court may properly grant jurisdiction to the case sub judice.

Respondent, Daniel Maxwell, defendant below, will be referred to as "Respondent." Petitioner, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the State."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The opinion below shows that Respondent appealed, among other things, his convictions of carrying a concealed firearm, possession of a short-barreled shotgun and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, all of which arose out of a single criminal episode, involving the same act of possession. Maxwell v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D118 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 4, 1996). District held that "[Respondent] may not be convicted of, and sentenced for, carrying a concealed firearm, possession of a shortbarreled shotgun and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon because all three offenses arose out of the same episode and all involved the same act of possession. M.P.C. v. State, 659 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>A.J.H. v. State</u>, 652 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)." Maxwell, supra. Accordingly, the district court affirmed Respondent's conviction and sentence for possession of a short-barreled shotgun, but reversed the other two convictions and sentences.  $\underline{\mathsf{Id}}$ .

On January 4, 1996, the court of appeal rendered its decision in the instant case. Then, on January 29, 1996, the State timely filed notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's decision that Respondent could not be convicted of more than one firearm offense based on the possession of one firearm during the same criminal episode, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in M.P. v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2569 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 22, 1995). In M.P., the Third District held--where M.P. was adjudicated delinquent for carrying a concealed weapon and possession of a firearm by a minor based on the same weapon and the same incident--"that the dual adjudications do not violate M.P.'s constitutional right not to be placed in double jeopardy." Id. Accordingly, the First District's decision in Maxwell is in express direct conflict with the Third District's decision in M.P. Thus, this Court must grant its discretionary jurisdiction to resolve this conflict between the districts.

In addition, this Court's conflict jurisdiction may be properly invoked because this Court is pending review in M.P. and, therefore, may have the same issue before it. Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981). Thus, this Court should grant its discretionary conflict jurisdiction to review the decision rendered below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# ISSUE I

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN MAXWELL V. STATE, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D118 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 4, 1996)?

The district court's decision that Respondent could not be convicted of more than one firearm offense based on the possession of a firearm during the same criminal episode, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in M.P. v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2569 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 22, 1995). In M.P., the Third District held--where M.P. was adjudicated delinquent for carrying a concealed weapon and possession of a firearm by a minor based on the same weapon and the same incident--"that the dual adjudications do not violate M.P.'s constitutional right not to be placed in double jeopardy." Id. Accordingly, the First District's decision in Maxwell is in express direct conflict with the Third District's decision in M.P. Thus, this Court must grant its discretionary jurisdiction to resolve this conflict between the districts.

Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution provides that this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision

of another district court of appeal . . . on the same question of law." The issue to be decided in a petition for conflict jurisdiction is "whether there is express and direct conflict in the decision of the district court before [this Court,] for [which a party seeks] review . . ." Dodi Pub. Co. v. Editorial America, S.A., 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980). This Court has explained that:

This Court in the broadest sense has subjectmatter jurisdiction . . . over any decision of a district court that expressly addresses a question of law within the four corners of the opinion itself . . . That is, the opinion must contain a statement of law or citation effectively establishing a point of law upon which the decision rests.

Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988). Thus, this Court must determine whether the instant decision and the M.P. decision are in express and direct conflict.

Applying the above rules of law to the decisions relevant to the instant case, it is clear that the decisions are in express and direct conflict. The four corners of both decisions show that the respective defendants were convicted of multiple firearm/weapon offenses arising out of the possession of one firearm, within one criminal episode. See M.P., supra; Maxwell, supra. However, when determining the issue of whether multiple convictions are allowed in such cases, the courts diverged. In M.P., the Third District

Court of Appeal decided "that the dual adjudications do not violate M.P.'s constitutional right not to be placed in double jeopardy . . ." and, therefore affirmed M.P's convictions. M.P., supra. However, in Maxwell, the First District Court of Appeal decided, with respect to the same question of law, that "[Respondent] may not be convicted of, and sentenced for, [multiple firearms offenses] because all three offenses arose out of a single episode and all involved the same act of possession . . ." and, therefore, affirmed only one of Respondent's firearms convictions, while reversing the other two. Maxwell, supra. Accordingly, the latter decision is in express and direct conflict with the former decision. Thus, this Court should grant conflict jurisdiction in the case sub judice.

In addition, there is another basis upon which this Court may grant its discretionary jurisdiction. In Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1981), this Court held that "a district court of appeal per curiam opinion which cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by this Court . . . constitute[s] [a] prima facie express conflict and allows this Court to exercise its jurisdiction." See, e.g., Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540, 541 (Fla. 1992) (this Court granted conflict jurisdiction in per curiam affirmance where only one of

three cited cases had been granted review by this Court). manner of finding conflict jurisdiction, however, is not limited to instances where a per curiam decision expressly relies on a cited authority that has been granted this Court's review, but also when the same <u>issue</u> has been granted this Court's review, albeit in a State v. Rhodes, 623 So. 2d 470, 471 (Fla. different case. 1993) (This Court granted conflict jurisdiction because "district court cited its decision in <a href="Kelly">Kelly</a>[, where review had been denied, | . . . as the basis for reversal. The district court certified the issue raised in Kelly to this Court in Williams, . . . a case which we subsequently accepted for review. accept jurisdiction . . . "). The reason for this rule is that this Court must acknowledge its own actions when dispensing with cases before it. Jollie, supra at 418. Thus, this Court must determine whether it should exercise its conflict jurisdiction because the same issue that is involved in the instant case is pending review in another case.

Turning to the instant case, it is clear that this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to review the instant case if review is granted in M.P. In M.P., at the end of its decision, the Third District stated "that [its] holding[, concerning the same issue discussed above,] directly conflicts with that of the Fifth

District in M.P.C. v. State, 659 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) and that of the First District in A.J.H. v. State, 652 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Accordingly, [it] certif[ied] conflict with those decisions." M.P., supra. Furthermore, this Court is pending review in M.P.; thus, the same issue present in the instant case is pending review before this Court. M.P., supra, rev. pending (Fla. case no. 86-968). Accordingly, if review is granted in M.P., this Court should similarly exercise its jurisdiction in the instant case. Jollie, supra.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction in the instant case.