# ORIGINAL

-

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	Case
DANIEL KEITH MAXWELL,	:	

:

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MAR	4	1996	
CLERKAL	K	ACOUR	RT
nu L.A.	Ч	, Ölerk	

e no. 87,290

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

#

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

## I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The state appeals an opinion of the First District Court of Appeal which reversed multiple convictions involving possession of a firearm. <u>Maxwell v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 21 Fla. L.Weekly D188 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 4, 1996).

### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent is generally in agreement with the state's statement of the case and facts.

#### III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent contends no genuine conflict exists with <u>M.P.</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, because the outcome of <u>M.P.</u> will turn on juvenile statutes which have no counterpart applicable to him as an adult defendant. If <u>M.P.</u>'s discussion of unique statutory elements is part of the holding of the case and not merely dicta, there may be conflict with the instant case, but then, <u>M.P.</u> would also conflict with this court's "core offense" analysis in Sirmons v. State, infra.

#### IV ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

IS THERE DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS?

Respondent, Daniel Keith Maxwell, an adult, was convicted of possession of a short-barreled shotgun, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and carrying a concealed weapon, all for the single possession of a single gun. He argued on appeal to the First District that the triple convictions violated double jeopardy. The district court agreed, citing its own prior decision <u>A.J.H. v. State</u>, 652 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), and this court's decision in <u>State v. Stearns</u>, 645 So.2d 417, 418 (Fla. 1994), and vacated two of the convictions. <u>Maxwell v. State</u>, supra.

The state seeks review of the decision on the ground the convictions contain separate statutory elements. The state alleges conflict with the decision in <u>M.P. v. State</u>, in which the Third District certified conflict with <u>A.J.H.</u> and <u>M.P.C. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 659 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). <u>M.P. v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), <u>decision on jurisdiction post-poned; merit briefing ordered</u>, no. 86,968 (Fla. 1996). Even if <u>M.P.</u> and <u>A.J.H.</u> conflict with each other, that conflict does not necessarily extend to respondent Maxwell's adult convictions.

M.P. was adjudicated delinquent for carrying a concealed weapon and possession of a firearm by a minor. 662 So.2d at

-3-

1359. A.J.H. and M.P.C. were both adjudicated delinquent of the same two offenses and in addition, of possession of a firearm by a delinquent. <u>M.P.C.</u>, 659 So.2d at 1293; <u>A.J.H.</u>, 652 So.2d at 1380. Maxwell, by comparison, is an adult, who was not convicted of any offenses relating to minors.

There are two bases for the decision in <u>M.P.</u> First and foremost is the language of the possession of a firearm by a minor statute, to the effect that "[t]he provisions of this section are <u>supplemental</u> to all other provisions of law relating to the possession, use, or exhibition of a firearm" (emphasis added in <u>M.P.</u>). 662 So.2d at 1360, quoting § 790.22(7), Fla.Stat. (Supp. 1994). This statutory language applies only to minors, and thus does not apply to Maxwell's adult convictions. The holding in Maxwell's case is not in conflict with <u>M.P.</u> on this point. Nor, contrary to the state's claim has this court granted review on the same issue.

<u>M.P.</u> also permits dual convictions because the charges contain unique statutory elements. It is possible to view <u>M.P.</u>'s statutory elements discussion as dicta. Undersigned counsel cannot discern whether this discussion was intended to be dicta, or a separate basis for the decision. Certainly, the district court's decision on statutory language is more compelling than its excursion into the murky waters of double jeopardy.

If the discussion of unique statutory elements is in fact part of the holding of the case, then it is possible the deci-

-4-

sion conflicts with the instant case. Respondent would point out, however, that it would also conflict with this court's decision in <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1994), in which this court employed a "core offense" analysis to find that dual convictions of grand theft auto and robbery of the same auto could not stand.

This court found the core offense in <u>Sirmons</u> to be theft, with two aggravating factors - 1) force used in the robbery, and 2) the property was a motor vehicle, and automobiles are enumerated as items whose theft constitutes grand theft. Similarly, the three offenses here all share the core offense of possession of a firearm, with the addition of various aggravating factors. It does not change the basic fact, however, that Maxwell possessed only a single firearm.

Be the conflict with <u>Sirmons</u> as it may, respondent urges this court to deny review in this case because no genuine conflict exists with <u>M.P.</u>. The outcome of <u>M.P.</u> will turn on juvenile statutes which have no counterpart applicable to him as an adult defendant.

-5-

#### V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, appellant requests that this Court decline to review this case, because no significant conflict with other cases exists.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER Fla. Bar No. 0513253 Assistant Public Defender Leon County Courthouse 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT